# FILED

# SID J. WHITE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORING 30 1998

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

Petitioner,

vs.

SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

Petitioner,

vs.

HARRY K. SINGLETARY, JR., Etc.,

Respondent.

SEMINOLE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

Respondent.

### SEMINOLE COUNTY AND STATE OF FLORIDA'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

#### ROBERT A. MCMILLAN

County Attorney For Seminole County Florida Bar No: 0182655 Seminole County Services Bldg. 1101 East First Street Sanford, Florida 32771 (407) 321-1130 Ext. 7254 Attorney for Seminole County Attorney for Seminole County

#### **KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY**

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the following entities will be referred to as described below:

Seminole County - "Seminole County" or "County" Joseph R. Spaziano - "Defendant" Fifth District Court of Appeal - "Fifth District" Circuit Court for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for

Seminole County, Florida - "Circuit Court" Harry K. Singletary, Jr., Secretary, State of Florida, Department of Corrections - "the State of Florida" or "State" COMES NOW Seminole County, by and through its undersigned counsel, and the Office of the Attorney General, by and through its undersigned counsel, and file an Initial Brief on Merits pursuant to Order of the Court entered July 15, 1998, consolidating Florida Supreme Court Case Numbers 92,801, 92,846 and 93,447. Each case on appeal shall be presented by separate section, as follows:

# I. CO-COUNSEL AT PUBLIC EXPENSE.

# A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS.

On or about June 10, 1997, privately retained counsel for the Defendant in the underlying criminal matter filed *Mr. Spaziano's Motion For The Appointment Of Florida Attorney Robert N. Wesley As Co-Counsel At Public Expense.* (Appendix 1). The Defendant has previously been declared indigent here for the purposes of certain defense costs by the Circuit Court in the underlying criminal matter.

On July 2, 1997, Seminole County filed an Objection To Defendant's Motion For Appointment Of Florida Attorney Robert N. Wesley As Co-Counsel At Public Expense. (Appendix 2). At the first hearing on the co-counsel issue held July 7, 1997, the Circuit Court denied Defendant's Motion and entered an Order Denying Mr. Spaziano's Motion For Appointment Of Robert N. Wesley As Co-Counsel At Public Expense. (Appendix 3).

Notwithstanding entry of the aforementioned decision denying appointment of co-counsel at public expense to assist a privately retained defense attorney, the Defendant filed on or about

September 12, 1997, a Motion For Reconsideration And Second Motion For The Appointment Of Florida Attorney As Co-Counsel At Public Expense. (Appendix 4).

Seminole County filed on October 2, 1997, its Objection To Defendant's Motion For Reconsideration And Second Motion For The Appointment Of Florida Attorney Robert N. Wesley As Co-Counsel At Public Expense. (Appendix 5). Subsequent to the second hearing on the co-counsel issue, however, the Circuit Court entered an Order Appointing Additional Counsel At Public Expense on December 11, 1997. (Appendix 6).

On January 12, 1997, Seminole County timely filed a Petition For Writ Of Certiorari And Declaratory And Injunctive Relief. (Appendix 7). On January 15, 1998, the Fifth District issued an Order Of The Court requiring the Defendant to respond. (Appendix 8). The Defendant filed on or about February 9, 1998, its Response To Seminole County's Petition For Writ Of Certiorari on February 17, 1998. (Appendix 9).

The Fifth District filed an Order Of The Court dated March 13, 1998, in Case No. 98-115, specifically granting Seminole County's Petition For Writ Of Certiorari and quashing the Circuit Court Order Appointing Additional Counsel At Public Expense. Seminole County v. Spaziano, 707 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

The Defendant filed a Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with the Florida Supreme Court on April 10, 1998, (Appendix 10) and his Amended Brief On Jurisdiction on April 25, 1998.

(Appendix 11). Seminole County filed its Jurisdictional Brief On Review From The District Court Of Appeal, Fifth District on May 15, 1998. (Appendix 12).

# B. SUMMARY.

The Fifth District properly reviewed the matter and applied the law as set forth in Florida Statutes governing the appointment of counsel to represent indigent criminal defendants at public expense. Absent a conflict as determined solely by the Office of the Public Defender, the court shall appoint the Office of the Public Defender to represent an indigent criminal defendant. In his claim that he is not receiving effective assistance of counsel and an adequate defense, the criminal Defendant appears to disregard the truth in that Seminole County has expended tens of thousands of dollars, to date, in providing the Defendant with an "adequate and reasonable" defense as mandated by the United States Ake v. Oklahoma case and its progeny. Ake v. Supreme Court. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed. 2d 53 (1985). Counsel for the criminal Defendant has been provided by Seminole County with expert medical and forensic witness expenses, investigative service costs, unlimited deposition and transcription costs, costs for service of subpoenas, costs for medical and other legal records, factual witness expenses and numerous other related costs requested by this privately retained counsel to zealously represent his client. Moreover, the County and the Defendant are cognizant that tens of thousands of dollars more will be spent to litigate this matter through trial and provide this Defendant previously deemed indigent by the trial court for certain enumerated costs an "adequate and reasonable" defense.

#### C. ARGUMENT.

# I. THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT DOES NOT EXPRESSLY OR DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF EITHER THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT OR A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL.

The Florida Supreme Court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of an appellate court in several clearly enumerated circumstances. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2). The Supreme Court of Florida may opt to utilize its discretionary jurisdiction to review an appellate court decision when that decision "expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law." Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. See also, Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(iv). Here, an alleged conflict between appellate and supreme court decisions is the sole ground argued by the Defendant in his jurisdictional brief.

The ruling of the Fifth District does not "expressly and directly conflict" with the decision of another district court of appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law.

The appellate court decision to be reviewed must show on its face the existence of a direct conflict. Seaboard Airline Railroad Co. v. Branham, 104 So. 2d 356 (Fla. 1958). Further, for a decision to be considered in "direct conflict" with another

decision, the two decisions must be wholly irreconcilable. Williams v. Duggan, 153 So. 2d 726 (Fla. 1963). The foremost concern is with decisions as precedents rather than the determination of the rights of particular litigants. Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958).

In the decision rendered by the Fifth District, it found that the Circuit Court had departed from the essential requirements of law in its ruling. See, *Seminole County v. Spaziano*, 707 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). The Fifth District stated that "[a]s Section 925.035(1), Florida Statutes (1997), provides an adequate procedure to protect the constitutional right to counsel guaranteed to indigent defendants in capital cases, the trial court's ruling constitutes a departure from the essential requirements of law." *Id.* at 932.

The Fifth District further asserted that as

Spaziano is represented by private counsel, who was not appointed due to a conflict of interest, there is no statutory authority for the appointment of co-counsel at public expense. *Id*.

Here, the Defendant cited no legal authority in its jurisdictional brief reflecting either a Florida Supreme Court or a District Court of Appeal decision expressly and directly conflicting with the decision rendered below by the Fifth District with regard to the appointment of co-counsel at public expense to assist a privately retained attorney. The cases cited by the Defendant in his argument that a "conflict" exists with the ruling of the Fifth District merely stand for the proposition that a particular defendant may be entitled to representation by two (2) attorneys under appropriate circumstances. See, Schommer v. Bentley, 500 So. 2d 118 (Fla. 1986), Orange County v. Corchado, 679 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996).

However, that was not the issue on appeal before the Fifth District. The sole issue on appeal and on which the Fifth District ruled was whether Seminole County must pay for an additional counsel at public expense appointed to assist an attorney who was privately retained by a criminal defendant.

Moreover, this Court has recently ruled that a trial court's refusal to appoint a second defense attorney who was requested by the court appointed conflict counsel due to the alleged complexity of a murder case and extensive preparation involved did not result in ineffective assistance of counsel. Howell v. State, 707 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1998). In Howell, a conflict declared by the Office of the Public Defender required appointment of conflict counsel. This Court specifically held in Howell that "[f]urther, we find no abuse of discretion in the trial court's denial of Howell's request for the appointment of another attorney to assist Sheffield in his Id. at 681. See also, Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d defense." 730 (Fla. 1994); Reaves v. State, 639 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994). In Howell, a conflict of interest with the Office of the Public Defender had been found and a special conflict attorney was appointed by the trial court. Id. at 677.

Further, this Court recently deferred the enactment of proposed rules concerning the competency and qualifications of counsel appointed to represent indigent defendants in capital cases where the services of a public defender are not available because of a conflict of interest "until the legislature has had a chance to address this issue." See, In Re: Amendment To Florida Rules Of Judicial Administration -- Minimum Standards For Appointed Counsel In Capital Cases. (Appendix 13). These deferred rules addressed the mandatory appointment by the trial courts of two (2) attorneys to represent a capital indigent criminal defendant when the public defender's office has a declared conflict of interest. However, the deferred rules would not have been applicable to the scenario presented here inasmuch as counsel for the Defendant is privately retained and not appointed by the court subsequent to a conflict declared by the Public Defender's Office.

Here, counsel for the criminal Defendant is <u>not</u> a court appointed attorney and, in fact, is a criminal defense counsel privately retained by the Defendant. The Florida Legislature has carefully established a method by which counsel is provided for indigent criminal defendants who cannot afford to pay for representation by a private attorney. Accordingly, the state-wide system of the Office of the Public Defender was statutorily created and funded to provide representation to indigent criminal defendants. Further, cognizant of the fact that certain scenarios would prevent the Office of the Public Defender from ethically representing

particular indigent defendants, the Florida Legislature enacted a statute by which the courts may appoint a special conflict counsel to represent indigent criminal defendants upon determination by the Office of the Public Defender that a conflict exists.

Here, privately retained counsel for the criminal Defendant is simply attempting to circumvent the system and gain the assistance of a court appointed attorney at public expense. The obvious inequities and ramifications of this scheme are numerous. The actions of privately retained counsel for the Defendant in this case are unfair to the taxpayers of the State of Florida who are already paying for the established Office of the Public Defender and even to other criminal defendants who are paying, at their own expense, for the services of their privately retained defense counsel.

Moreover, this Court has previously addressed the counsel issue specifically with regard to this Defendant. In Spaziano v. State, 660 So. 2d 1363 (Fla. 1995), a post conviction relief proceeding, this Court ruled that

> "Spaziano is faced with a choice. He may be represented at the evidentiary hearing by CCR or by competent volunteer counsel who will comply with the rules and directions of this Court <u>at no expense to the State</u>, or he may choose to have no counsel at the evidentiary hearing. It is his decision." Emphasis supplied.

Capital Collateral Representative (CCR) is the state-wide system statutorily created to provide counsel to indigent defen-

dants convicted and sentenced to death in this State. § 27.702, Fla. Stat. (1997). Specifically, Section 27.702(1), Florida Statutes, provides:

> "The capital collateral representative shall represent, without additional compensation, any person convicted and sentenced to death in this state who is without counsel and who is unable to secure counsel due to his indigency or determined by a state court of competent jurisdiction to be indigent for the purpose of instituting and prosecuting collateral actions challenging the legality of the judgment and sentence imposed against such person in the state courts, federal courts in this state, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, and the United States Supreme Court."

The CCR Office is the counterpart at the appellate capital level to the Office of the Public Defender charged with representing indigent capital defendants at the trial court level.

# II. SECTION 925.035(1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), GOVERNS THE APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL FOR AN INDIGENT DEFENDANT IN A CAPITAL CASE.

a. The sole issue on appeal and on which the Fifth District ruled was whether Seminole County must pay for an additional counsel at public expense appointed to assist an attorney who was privately retained by a criminal defendant. The Fifth District expressly found that *Chapter 925, Florida Statutes (1997)*, governs the appointment of an attorney for an indigent defendant in a capital case. *Seminole County* at 932. Specifically, the Fifth District found that *Section 925.035(1)*, *Florida Statutes (1997)*, provides that [i]f the court determines that the defendant in a capital case is insolvent and desires counsel, it shall appoint a public defender to represent the defendant.

Section 925.035, Florida Statutes (1997), further states that

[i]f the public defender appointed to represent two or more defendants found to be insolvent determines that neither him nor his staff can counsel all of the accused without conflict of interest, it shall be his duty to move the court to appoint one or more members of The Florida Bar, who are in no way affiliated with the public defender in his capacity as such or in his private practice, to represent those accused.

Thus, absent a conflict with Office of the Public Defender as set forth in Section 925.035(1), Florida Statutes (1997), the Fifth District held that Florida law clearly requires the appointment of the Public Defender to represent an insolvent defendant in a capital case. Seminole County at 932. The Fifth District, in its opinion, ruled that

> Russ began representing Spaziano in the prior post conviction proceeding. Russ was not initially selected pursuant to the statute governing appointment of counsel in capital cases"... and further found that "as Spaziano is represented by private counsel, who was not appointed due to a conflict of interest, there is no statutory authority for the appointment of co-counsel at public expense. *Id*.

Here, in fact, the criminal Defendant retained private defense counsel to represent him in this matter. The County is neither aware of nor entitled to disclosure of the specific fiduciary or client contractual obligations between private defense counsel and the Defendant client. Seminole County contends that the Office of the Public Defender is fully funded and supported by the taxpayers of the State of Florida to provide legal representation to indigent defendants in all criminal matters at public expense. It is clearly the prerogative of the Public Defender's Office, upon appointment as statutorily mandated in accordance with Section 925.035, Florida Statutes (1997), to make an assertion, if applicable, with regard to a conflict of interest in representing a particular indigent criminal defendant.

In its jurisdictional brief, the Defendant argued that a conflict of interest exists for the Office of the Public Defender to represent this particular Defendant. This argument is meritless and premature. The Office of the Public Defender clearly cannot determine that a conflict of interest exists until appointed to represent a specific defendant.

Moreover, it is the sole prerogative of the Office of the Public Defender to make a determination that the Public Defender's Office has a conflict in representing a certain defendant. It is surely not the role of a third party, here, privately retained defense counsel to assert, argue or speculate as to whether a conflict of interest may or may not exist with regard to representation by the Office of the Public Defender. The Public Defender is statutorily and ethically mandated to make such a determination.

The statute definitively requires appointment of the Public Defender when certain circumstances are present. § 925.035(1),

Fla. Stat. (1997). Upon appointment, the Public Defender may assert a conflict of interest in representing a client, if warranted, based on his or her interpretation of applicable law, including the Florida Rules of Professional Responsibility.

Indeed, the Honorable James W. Russo, Public Defender of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Seminole County, Florida, asserted at a hearing held January 30, 1998, that "So what I'm telling you is, with respect to Mr. Bradley, Judge, I know of no actual conflict of interest with respect to the Public Defender's office." (Appendix 14 at 13). Thus, the Public Defender in and for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit has asserted before the Circuit Court that no conflict would exist with respect to the individual that the Defendant alleges would create a conflict if the Office of the Public Defender is so appointed.

Notwithstanding the desire of the Defendant here to propose his own defense team, Florida law does not permit an insolvent defendant to select his own counsel at public expense. Clearly, a non-indigent defendant may select whomever he or she so desires for legal representation. However, in enacting *Section 925.035(1)*, *Florida Statutes (1997)*, the Florida Legislature expressed its intent to establish a procedure for appointing counsel for indigent defendants in capital cases. Thus, an indigent defendant in a capital case is entitled to counsel paid for by public funds only as set forth in *Section 925.035(1)*, *Florida Statutes (1997)*.

b. Trial level courts appoint one or more private defense attorneys to represent criminal defendants in a given case when the Office of the Public Defender asserts a conflict in representing a particular indigent defendant in that case. The Defendant is not statutorily entitled to the appointment of another defense counsel of his choosing at public expense.

Such appointment clearly acts to circumvent the established statutory procedure in cases of indigent criminal defendants. In allowing an indigent criminal defendant represented by privately retained defense counsel to add another private defense counsel, paid at public expense, the procedure set forth in *Section* 925.035(1), Florida Statutes (1995), is effectively negated.

Prior to the Fifth District's quashal of the Circuit Court's ruling here, an indigent criminal defendant could retain private counsel with little or no criminal defense experience and simply request additional representation by a "more experienced" criminal defense attorney at public expense thereby completely disregarding the entire statutory procedure established for indigent criminal defendants. Further, no need would exist for the state-wide system of the Office of the Public Defender.

In the Circuit Court's decision, it cites two cases as a basis for its refusal here to appoint the Public Defender to represent the Defendant as co-counsel with the Defendant's privately retained counsel. In Behr v. Gardner, 442 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the First District held that "...section 27.51, Florida Statutes

(1981), although it permitted the appointment of the public defender to represent certain indigent defendants, did not permit the appointment of the public defender as co-counsel with privately retained counsel." *Id.* at 981.

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