JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 17 1998

CLERK OURREME COURT

Petitioner,

v.

SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondent,

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

Petitioner,

v.

HARRY K. SINGLETARY, JR., Etc.,

Respondent,

SEMINOLE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

v.

JOSEPH R. SPAZIANO,

Respondent.

CASE NOS. 92,801, 92,846 AND 93,447

SEMINOLE COUNTY AND STATE OF FLORIDA'S REPLY TO MR. SPAZIANO'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

## ROBERT A. McMILLAN

County Attorney
For Seminole County
Florida Bar No. 0182655
Seminole County Svcs. Bldg.
1101 East First Street
Sanford, Florida 32771
(407) 321-1130 Ext. 7254
Attorney for Seminole County

## KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY

### III. ARGUMENTS

# A. DEFENSE COUNSEL ISSUES - CASE NOS. 92,801 AND 92,846

Florida law mandates that the Office of the Public Defender be appointed for an indigent capital defendant if the defendant wishes legal counsel. Section 925.035(1), Florida Statutes. In Spaziano v. State, 660 So.2d 1363 (Fla. 1995), a post conviction relief proceeding, this Court ruled:

"Spaziano is faced with a choice. He may be represented at the evidentiary hearing by CCR or by competent volunteer counsel who will comply with the rules and directions of this Court at no expense to the State, or he may choose to have no counsel at the evidentiary hearing. It is his decision."

Similarly, the Fifth District responded to the Defendant's constitutional concerns by expressly ruling that

"...[s]ection 925.035(1), Florida Statutes (1997), provides an adequate procedure to protect the constitutional right to counsel guaranteed to indigent defendants in capital cases..." Seminole County v. Spaziano, 707 So.2d 931 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998).

Thus, absent a conflict, Florida law clearly requires the appointment of the Public Defender to represent an insolvent defendant in a capital case. *Id*. The Fifth District ruled that

"Russ began representing Spaziano in the prior post conviction proceeding. Russ was not initially selected pursuant to the statute governing appointment of counsel in capital cases"... and further found that "as Spaziano is represented by private counsel, who was not appointed due to a conflict of interest, there is no statutory authority for the appointment of co-counsel at public expense." Id.

Further, Judge Cobb emphasized in his specially concurring opinion that:

"Attorney Russ is willing to represent the defendant <u>pro bono</u> but wants the assistance of co-counsel at public expense... An indigent defendant is entitled to counsel, but is not permitted to select his or her counsel at public expense. The same is true for Russ, who should not be permitted to select his co-counsel at public expense" ... and that the decision below "sets a bad precedent, because in the future an attorney with little or no experience in capital cases could agree to represent <u>pro bono</u> a criminal defendant and then move the court for the appointment of a more experienced attorney for assistance, to be compensated by the county. This practice would undermine the state public defender system created by the legislature as the way of providing counsel to indigent defendants." *Id*.

Counsel for the Defendant entered into a private attorney-client arrangement for representation of the Defendant in the underlying criminal proceedings. (Answer Brief p.26). No authority exists in Florida Statutes permitting an indigent capital defendant the services of both a privately retained defense counsel and a defense counsel paid for at public expense.

The United States Supreme Court has rejected the notion that "impecunious defendants have a Sixth Amendment right to choose their counsel." Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered v. United States, 491 U.S. 617,624, 109 S. Ct. 2646,2652, 105 L.Ed.2d 528 (1989). In the Caplin case, the United States Supreme Court stated that

"The Amendment guarantees defendants in criminal cases the right to adequate representation, but those who do not have the means to hire their own lawyers have no cognizable complaint so long as they are adequately represented by attorneys appointed by the courts"..." [a] defendant may not insist on representation by an attorney he cannot afford." Id.

Moreover, this Court has found that a "defendant does not have an absolute right to a particular lawyer and that it is within a trial court's discretion to deny a defendant's request for particular counsel when there is a countervailing public interest in the fair and orderly administration of justice." See, Bundy v. State, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984).

The appointment of the Office of the Public Defender here, an Office publicly funded and supported through taxpayers of the State, would seem to promote the "fair and orderly administration of justice." Rather, the Defendant argues an entitlement to choosing his own defense co-counsel, at public expense, to assist his privately retained defense counsel.

Simply stated, the Defendant cannot have it both ways. The Defendant must either be represented solely by the Office of the Public Defender, as mandated by Florida Statutes for indigent capital defendants, or, the Defendant can continue to be represented by his privately retained attorney. Legal assistance from other members of the criminal defense bar, if needed, may also be requested. As Judge Cobb further states,

"Although the trial judge was correct that he could not appoint a public defender to work as co-counsel with a private attorney, the trial court did not discuss the obvious alternatives: instruct Russ to seek out other attorneys who are willing to act as co-counsel on a pro bono basis, or appoint the public defender if Mr. Russ is unable to secure pro bono assistance and is not able to handle the case alone."

It is the sole prerogative of the Office of the Public Defender to determine whether a conflict exists in representing a particular defendant given the circumstances present if and when such appointment occurs. It is not and has never been the prerogative of a privately retained defense counsel for a defendant to assert such a conflict on behalf of the Public Defender's Office.

Section 925.035(1), Florida Statutes, regarding appointment of the public defender for indigent capital defendants is not merely 'permissive' language as the Defendant argues. Historically accepted tenets of statutory construction establish that the plain meaning of the statute be given to a particular statute unless otherwise stated. The only exception to the initial appointment of the Public Defender's Office to represent an indigent capital defendant is a defendant who wishes to represent himself pro se.

Section 27.530(3), Florida Statutes (1997), also provides that

[I]f at any time during the representation of two or more indigents the public defender shall determine that the interests of those accused are so adverse or hostile that they cannot all be counseled by the public defender ... it shall be the public defender's duty to move the court to appoint one or more members of The Florida Bar...to represent those accused.

This Section further states that

[t]he trial court shall appoint such other counsel upon its own motion when the facts developed upon the face of the

record and files in the cause disclose such conflict. (Emphasis added.)

This subsection, contrary to Defendant's contentions, does not provide the trial court with "additional, independent authority" to appoint co-counsel at public expense to assist privately retained criminal defense counsel. Such construction would negate the purpose for establishing the state-wide system of the Public Defender's Office and its counterpart, the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, at the post-conviction proceeding level. Further, the foregoing Section is inapplicable here as Section 925.035, Florida Statutes, supersedes Section 27.530(3), Florida Statutes, with regard to capital defendants and solely governs appointment of counsel in capital cases.

Section 43.28, Florida Statutes (1997), sets forth the counties' responsibilities with regard to the provision of

"...appropriate courtrooms, facilities, equipment, and, unless provided by the state, personnel necessary to operate the circuit and county courts."

Contrary to Defendant's contentions, however, interpreting the foregoing Section as requiring the counties to pay for cocounsel at public expense to assist privately retained criminal defense counsel would render illogical results. The counties could thus be mandated to completely staff the circuit and county courts with all personnel necessary to operate the courts, including the judges, bailiffs, court clerks, and attorneys for all of the parties. Such construction would

conflict with the various court costs mandates set forth in Article V of the Florida Constitution.

It is not so rare a case as to require circumvention of the entire statutorily established public defender system in order to provide co-counsel at public expense to assist a privately retained defense attorney.

Moreover, it is not obvious that the Office of the Public The Public Defender has stated Defender has a conflict here. that no conflict would exist if the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent this Defendant. (Initial Brief Appendix 14, pp. 8 - 13). At to a future conflict arising regarding a specific defendant represented by the Office of the Public Defender, such conflict could be easily resolved by the Public Defender's Office declaring the existence of a statutory counsel for the other conflict upon its appointment as defendant. Accordingly, the other defendant would then receive a court-appointed special public defender as mandated by Section 925.035, Florida Statutes (1997). Despite the Public Defender's best attempts to determine hypothetically whether a conflict would exist, until actually appointed to represent a Defendant, the Public Defender cannot statutorily declare a conflict. The Defendant's arguments related to a supposed conflict with the Defender's Office are, at this time, premature, Public speculative and without merit.

Despite the Defendant's desire to propose his own "dream" defense team, Florida law does not permit an insolvent defendant to select his own counsel at public expense. In enacting the foregoing, the Florida legislature expressed its clear intent to establish a procedure for providing counsel to indigent defendants in capital cases. An indigent defendant in a capital case is entitled to counsel paid for by public funds only as provided by Section 925.305(1), Florida Statutes (1997).

Contrary to Defendant's continuous assertions, this Court deferred enactment of proposed rules concerning the mandatory appointment by the trial courts of two (2) attorneys to represent indigent defendants in capital cases when the Public Defender's Office has a conflict of interest. See, In Re: Amendment To Florida Rules Of Judicial Administration—Minimum Standards For Appointed Counsel In Capital Cases. (Initial Brief, Appendix 13.) Here, however, the deferred rules would be inapplicable since the Defendant's counsel is privately retained and not court-appointed.

B. DEFENSE SERVICES ISSUES - CASE NO. 93,447. In Mills v. State, 462 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1985), this Court held that a county could not be taxed for costs incurred by a defendant who commissioned a public opinion survey for the purpose of a motion for change of venue on grounds of pretrial publicity. In Mills, this Court found that "this Court has held such surveys

inadmissible in change of venue proceedings on the grounds of hearsay and unreliability." See, Irvin v. State, 66 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1953), cert. Denied. 346 U.S. 927 (1954). The Mills and Irvin cases, supra, decisions by this honorable Court, are still valid and applicable to this case. See also, Rolling v. State, 695 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1997); Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997), supporting the position that a change of venue motion must be 'proven up' during the voir dire phase of the pretrial proceedings.

This Court addressed the issue of the denial of a change of venue motion, and the proper time for proving such a motion, in Henyard v. State, 689 So.2d 239 (Fla. 1996). In Henyard, this Court stated:

In McCaskill v. State, 344 So.2d 1276, 1278 (Fla. 1977), we adopted the test set forth in Murphy v. State, 421 U.S. 794, 95 S.Ct. 2031, 44 L.Ed.2d 589 (1975), and Kelley v. State, 212 So.2d 27 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968), for determining whether to grant a change of venue: Knowledge of the incident because of its notoriety is not, in and of itself, grounds for a change of venue. The test for determining a change of venue is whether the general state of mind of the inhabitants of a community is so infected by the knowledge of the incident and accompanying prejudice, bias, and preconceived opinions that jurors could not possibly put these matters out of their minds and try the case solely upon the evidence presented in Id. At 1278 (quoting Kelley, 212 So.2d at the courtroom. See also, Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1327(Fla. 1994), 28). cert. denied, --- U.S. --, 115 S.Ct. 2588, 132 L.Ed.2d 836 In Manning v. State, 378 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1980), we further explained: An application for change of venue is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, but the defendant has the burden of ... showing that the setting of the trial is inherently prejudicial because of the general atmosphere and state of mind of the inhabitants in the community. A trial judge is bound to grant a motion for a change of venue when the evidence presented reflects that the community is so pervasively exposed to the circumstances of the incident that prejudice, bias, and preconceived opinions are the natural result. The trial court may make that determination upon the basis of evidence presented prior to the commencement of the jury selection process, or may withhold making the determination until an attempt is made to obtain impartial jurors to try the cause. *Id.* At 276 (citation omitted).

The Henyard court held that, "Ordinarily, absent an extreme or unusual situation, the need to change venue should not be determined until an attempt is made to select a jury." Emphasis added. Henyard at 245.

As the emphasized portion of Henyard clearly states, a change of venue motion should not be decided until voir dire unless there is an "extreme or unusual situation." Id. What the Defendant here has not attempted to establish the existence of an "extreme or unusual situation" that necessitates the extraordinary step of determining a change of venue motion before an attempt is made to swear a jury. A rational evaluation of this case leads to the conclusion that this case does not present such a situation - there is no allegation that there has been "media saturation," nor is there any allegation that it will not be possible to thoroughly inquire into the knowledge of the venire during voir dire1. The "survey report" appended to the Defendant's Answer Brief does not demonstrate the community "is so pervasively exposed that incident that prejudice, bias, and circumstances of the

The ex parte motion for appointment of a pollster (which cost \$8,000) is appended to the Defendant's Answer Brief. Because that motion was filed under seal, it has not previously been available to the State. A review of that motion reveals that the only reason advanced therein for the appointment of such an

preconceived opinions are the natural result." Henyard, supra.

This Court must require the Defendant to prove his change of venue motion during voir dire.

Moreover, in Williams  $v.\ Nix$ , 751 F.2d 956 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir.1988), the Eighth Circuit disposed of the public opinion poll issue by footnote, stating that

Williams also argues that it was constitutional error for the state court to refuse his request for a public-opinion poll to assist him in seeking a change of venue. We disagree. We do not believe this argument is sufficiently substantial to deserve further discussion. *Id*. At 958 n.1.

The appropriate time in which to resolve the issue of seating a fair and impartial jury is during pretrial voir dire proceedings. Thus, in Heath v. Jones, 941 F.2d 1126, 1134-36 (11th Cir. 1991), the Court found that even extensive publicity concerning a criminal case does not establish prejudice when a fair and impartial jury can be seated. The Eleventh Circuit contends, in Heath, that the appropriate time to 'prove up' a change of venue motion is during voir dire. This proposition despite the publicity rendered by the Heath Court was surrounding that case which occurred much more recently than the lengthy which has passed since the underlying criminal events here. See also, Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988).

The County contends that the trial court here made its decision based on a false assumption. The trial court appears to

expert is that the Defendant "wants one because it might help." As set out above that is an insufficient reason.

assume that if an indigent defendant has a justifiable need for a service, then that need supports requiring the County to pay for such service despite any lack of express statutory authorization ordering counties to pay for such services. The United States Supreme Court ruled, in Ross v. Moffit, 417 U.S. 600,615 (1974), quoting Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12,18 (1956), that the "fact that a particular service might be of benefit to an indigent defendant does not mean that there is a constitutional requirement for such service."

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